JUL 07 2014

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION III STATE OF WASHINGTON

Supreme Court No. 90504-5

(Court of Appeals No. 70295-5-I)

THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A.,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

I.	IDENTITY OF PETITIONER
II.	DECISION FOR WHICH REVIEW IS SOUGHT
III.	ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW
IV.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
V	ARGUMENT5
A.	Considerations governing acceptance of review
B.	"A negotiable instrument is a reified right to payment": Division I rendered meaningless RCW 62A.3-203(a)'s statutory definition that requires a "transfer" of a negotiable instrument be made only by physical delivery of possession to be able to enforce payment.
C.	Chase's judicial admissions vs. the governing statutes10
	Chase has never had physical possession of the original Note at any time
	Chase admits there was never any schedule of loans or list identifying this Note as among the assets purchased from the Receiver, and that the Schedule 3.1a asset list referenced within the Purchase and Assumption Agreement was never created
	Chase admits it did not own Washington Mutual Bank at any time13
D.	Division I's violation of the Separation of Powers and sub silento nullification of the governing statutes
E.	Summary Judgment Procedure vs. Chase's burden of proof16
F.	Conflict with Division III's interpretation of RCW 62A.3-309 in Colbert
G.	Conflict with <i>Trujillo</i> : Same Division I panel,

H. Public Importance	19			
I. Reversal of Dismissal of Counterclaims and Award for Expenses, Costs, and Attorney Fees	20			
IV. CONCLUSION	20			
TABLE OF AUTHORITIES				
Barrie v. Hosts of Am., Inc., 94 Wn.2d 640, 618 P.2d 96 (1980)	16			
Colbert v. US Bank of Washington, No. 28508-1-III (Div. 3, June 15, 2010)	, 17			
Davis v. Dep't. of Licensing, 137 Wash.2d 957, 977 P.2d 554 (1999)	15			
Dennis Joslin Co., LLC v. Robinson Broad. Corp., 977 F. Supp. 491 (D.D.C. 1997)				
Fleming v. Tacoma, 81 Wn.2d 292, 502 P.d2d 327 (1972)	.15			
Graves v. P.J. Taggares Co., 94 Wash.2d 298, 616 P.2d 1223 (1980)	16			
Harris v. Hornbaker, 98 Wn.2d 650, 658 P.d 1219 (1983)	15			
In re Columbia Pacific Mortgage, Inc., 22 Bankr. 753 (W.D. Wash. 1982)	7			
In re Harborhouse of Gloucester, 505 B.R. 365 (Bankr. D. Mass. 2014)	fn 6			
Key Design Inc. v. Moser, 138 Wn. 2d 875, 983 P.2d 653 (1999)	16			

Kim v. JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., 493 Mich. 98, 825 N.W. 2D 329 (2012)
Lewis River Golf, Inc. v. O.M. Scott & Sons, 120 Wn.2d 712, 845 P.2d 987 (1993)
McKay v. Capital Res. Co., Ltd., 327 Ark. 737, 940 S.W.2d 869 (Ark. 1997)
O'Melveny & Myers v. FDIC, 512 U.S. 79, 87, 114 S.Ct 2048, 129 L.Ed.2d 67 (1994)14
Olmstead v. Mulder, 72 Wn.App. 169, 863 P.2d 1355 (1993)
State v. J.P., 149 Wn.2d 444, 69 P.3d 318 (2003)
State Bar Association v. State, 125 Wn.2d 901, 890 P.2d 1047 (1995)
State Street Bank and Trust Co.v. Lord, 851 So.2d 790 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 20 2003)
Trujillo v. Northwest Trustee Services, Inc., Slip.Op. 702592-0-I (June 2, 2014)
Young v. Key Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 112 Wn.2d 216, 770 P.2d 182 (1989)

•

STATUTES

12 U.S.C. § 1821(d)(2)(G)(i)(I)

12 U.S.C. § 1821(d)(2)(G)(i)(II)

Financial Institutions Reform, Recovery and Enforcement Act of 1989

RAP 13.4

RAP 18.1

RCW 4.84.330

RCW 62A.3-104 "Negotiable instrument"

RCW 62A.1-201(b)(15) definition of "delivery" of instrument

RCW 62A.3-203 "Transfer of Instrument; rights acquired by transfer"

RCW 62A.3-203(a) "Transfer" of negotiable instrument defined

RCW 62A.3-301 "Person entitled to enforce" negotiable instrument

RCW 62A.3-309 "Enforcement of Lost, Destroyed, Stolen Instrument"

RCW 62A.9A-108 "Sufficiency of description" of assets

RCW 62A.9A-108(c) "supergeneric" description: "all assets"

RCW 62A.9A-109(a)(3) "Scope", "sale of promissory notes"

RCW 62A.9A-203 "Attachment and enforceability of security interest; proceeds; supporting obligations; formal requisites."

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner is Defendant/Appellant below Michiko Stehrenberger.

II. DECISION FOR WHICH REVIEW IS SOUGHT

Ms. Stehrenberger seeks review of the decision of Division One of the Court of Appeals ("Division I") in *JPMorgan Chase Bank, NA v. Stehrenberger*, No. 70295-5-I (Div. 1, Apr. 28, 2014)(unpublished) (the "Opinion"). The Opinion and the June 6, 2014 Order denying reconsideration are attached as Appendix A-1 and A-14.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Issue 1: Did Division I violate the separation of powers embodied within the Constitution of the State of Washington when it failed to apply the rules of statutory construction to RCW 62A.3-203; RCW 62A.3-309; RCW 62.9A-108; RCW 62A.9A-203, effectively nullifying the Legislature's expressed intent?

Issues related to Issue 1:

- 1. Can a person who has never had physical possession of an original paper negotiable instrument qualify as a "person entitled to enforce the instrument"?
- 2. Can a person become entitled to enforce an instrument through a document that assigns "all right, title, and interest" to a negotiable instrument, without ever receiving physical delivery of the instrument?

- 3. If a person proves "ownership" or "purchase" of a negotiable instrument, but has never received physical delivery of the original paper instrument, is that person entitled to enforce payment based upon a copy of the instrument?
- 4. Is it possible for a court to objectively determine whether a specific negotiable instrument was among a bulk purchase of assets from a failed company in receivership, when the purchase agreement refers to "all assets" generally, but no list or schedule exists that identifies this particular instrument as among the assets of the failed company on the date that it went into receivership?

Issue 2: Does Division I's Opinion conflict with this Court's long-standing summary judgment procedures as set forth in *Young v. Key*Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 112 Wn.2d 216, 770 P.2d 182 (1989) and Graves v.

P.J. Taggares Co., 94 Wn.2d 298, 302, 616 P.2d 1123 (1980) requiring the movant in a summary judgment motion to prove all required elements of

its burden of proof to prevail as a matter of law?

<u>Issue 3</u>: Should the Court address and resolve the conflicts between Division I's Opinion and (a) Division III's decision on summary judgment in *Colbert v. US Bank of Washington*, No. 28508-1-III (Div. 3, 2010) (unpublished)¹ concerning opposing interpretations of RCW 62A.3-309,

¹ Colbert, like Stehrenberger, is an unpublished opinion and neither are intended to be cited or discussed herein as either authoritative or for persuasive value, but to show that a conflict of interpretation of RCW 62A.3-309 exists between the courts below which should be addressed by this Court. See GR 14.1; RAP 13.4(b)(2).

and (b) Division I's decision in *Trujillo v. Northwest Trustee Services, Inc.*, Slip.Op. 702592-0-I (June 2, 2014) concerning opposing interpretations of RCW 62A.3-203?

<u>Issue 4</u>: Should this Court reverse the dismissal of counterclaims and the award of expenses, costs, and attorney fees if this Court reverses summary judgment?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

With few exceptions, the relevant facts of the case are undisputed and recited in the Opinion:

Ms. Stehrenberger entered into a promissory note ("Note") with Washington Mutual Bank in 2007. The Note is a negotiable instrument under Washington's Uniform Commercial Code ("UCC") (RCW 62A.3). Opinion at 4 ¶ 3.

Washington Mutual Bank failed on September 25, 2008 and the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (the "Receiver") was appointed as its receiver. Opinion at $1 \, \P \, 3$.

The Receiver assigned to JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. ("Chase") "all right, title, and interest of the Receiver" in and to the assets of Washington Mutual Bank under a Purchase and Assumption Agreement dated September 25, 2008. Opinion at 1 ¶ 3.

The Purchase and Assumption Agreement does not list any "loans," "negotiable instruments" or "promissory notes" as among the categories of

assets being sold by the Receiver. CP 621-664; see CP 633 ¶ 3.1 "Assets Purchased by Assuming Bank."

The Receiver did not effect a merger between Chase and Washington Mutual Bank pursuant to 12 U.S.C. § 1821(d)(2)(G)(i)(I), but instead effected a sale of Washington Mutual Bank's assets, with limited transfer of liability, to Chase under 12 U.S.C. § 1821(d)(2)(G)(i)(II), a provision of the Financial Institutions Reform, Recovery, and Enforcement Act of 1989 ("FIRREA"). Opinion at 1 (use of Purchase and Assumption Agreement).

Chase has never had physical possession of Ms. Stehrenberger's Note. Opinion at $6\,\P\,3$.

There is no Lost Note Affidavit evidencing that Washington

Mutual Bank or the Receiver ever lost physical possession of

Ms. Stehrenberger's Note. Opinion 8 ¶ 2.

The King County Superior Court ("Trial Court") granted summary judgment in favor of Chase on February 15, 2013. Ms. Stehrenberger timely filed for reconsideration on February 25, 2013.

The Trial Court denied reconsideration on April 1, 2013.

Ms. Stehrenberger timely appealed. Opinion at 1 ¶ 1.

Division I affirmed the Trial Court in its Opinion issued April 28, 2014. Ms. Stehrenberger timely filed for reconsideration on May 19, 2014.

Amici, collectively titled "Homeowners' Attorneys," timely filed a motion on May 20, 2014 requesting leave to file their proposed Amicus Curiae Memorandum in support of Ms. Stehrenberger's motion for reconsideration. Division I's order denying the motion requesting leave to file the Amicus Curiae Memorandum is attached as A-13.

Division I denied reconsideration June 6, 2014, attached as A-14.

Ms. Stehrenberger timely files this Petition and requests the Court grant review based upon the following:

V. ARGUMENT

A. Considerations Governing Acceptance of Review

RAP 13.4(b) identifies four considerations governing acceptance of review by this Court. While all four need not be in evidence, they are here. The Opinion is in conflict with several decisions of this Court including *Young v. Key Pharmaceuticals, Inc.*, 112 Wn.2d 216, 770 P.2d 182 (1989) and *Graves v. P.J. Taggares Co.*, 94 Wn.2d 298, 302, 616 P.2d 1123 (1980). RAP 13.4(b)(1). The Opinion is in conflict with Division III in *Colbert v. US Bank of Washington*, No. 28508-1-III (Div. 3, June 15, 2010) (unpublished²) and Division I's decision in *Trujillo v. Northwest Trustee Services, Inc.*, Slip.Op. 702592-0-I (June 2, 2014). The Opinion raises a question under the separation of powers doctrine; a judicial invasion of

² Colbert, like Stehrenberger, is an unpublished opinion and neither are intended to be cited or discussed herein as either authoritative or for persuasive value, but to show that a conflict of interpretation of RCW 62A.3-309 exists between the courts below which should be addressed by this Court. See GR 14.1; RAP 13.4(b)(2).

legislative prerogatives is certainly significant. RAP 13.4(b)(3). Finally, courts that act contrary to law, and the ubiquity of the Uniform Commercial Code statutes improperly nullified, underlie the millions of consumer and business transactions that occur daily throughout Washington, and give the public at large a substantial interest in having this Court address this case. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

B. "A negotiable instrument is a reified right to payment. The right to payment is represented by the instrument itself."

A promissory note that is a Uniform Commercial Code ("UCC") negotiable instrument under Ch. 62A.3 RCW is a "reified right to payment. The right is represented by the instrument itself. The right to payment is transferred by delivery of possession of the instrument." Official Comment to RCW 62A.3-203,³ attached as A-16.

An obligation upon an instrument is only discharged to the extent that payment is made to the proper person entitled to enforce the instrument. RCW 62A.3-602.

"It is long-settled law that one paying a note, either negotiable or nonnegotiable, should demand production of it upon payment or risk having to pay again to the assignee." *In re Columbia Pacific Mortgage*, *Inc.*, 22 Bankr. 753 (W.D. Wash. 1982).

³ Washington law may be ascertained by relying upon the official UCC comments. Lewis River Golf, Inc. v. O.M. Scott & Sons, 120 Wn.2d 712, 718, 845 P.2d 987 (1993); Olmstead v. Mulder, 72 Wn.App. 169, 177, 863 P.2d 1355 (1993).

Division I recently observed that "there has been considerable confusion in both judicial decisions and statutes over the distinction between the 'owner' of a note and the 'holder,' who has the right to enforce the note." *Trujillo v. Northwest Trustee Services, Inc.*, Slip.Op. 70592-0-I at 10⁴ (June 2, 2014).

The UCC's Official Comment 1 to RCW 62A.3-203 provides guidance, making clear that ownership alone does **not** entitle one to enforce payment upon the instrument:

"The right to enforce an instrument and ownership of the instrument are two different concepts....a person who has an ownership right in an instrument might not be a person entitled to enforce the instrument...The right to payment is transferred by delivery of possession of the instrument..."

Official Comment 1 to RCW 62A.3-203, Appendix at A-16 ¶ 2. (emphasis added)

Division I seems to have misapprehended the term "**transfer**." RCW 62A.3-203 is explicit in that it requires physical delivery of the tangible instrument itself.⁵ "Delivery, with respect to an instrument... means voluntary transfer of possession." RCW 62A.1-201(d)(15).

Only physical delivery of the tangible paper instrument – the "reified right to payment" itself – allows enforcement rights to "vest in the transferee." RCW 62A.3-203(a) and (b). "The touchstone of proper

⁴ Referencing Whitman, Dale A. & Milner, Drew, Foreclosing on Nothing: The Curious Problem of the Deed of Trust Foreclosure without Entitlement to the Enforce the Note, 66 Ark. L. Rev. 21, 26 (2013).

⁵ RCW 62A.3-203(a): "An instrument is transferred when it is delivered by a person other than its issuer for the purpose of giving to the person receiving delivery the right to enforce the instrument."

acquisition of the right to enforce a negotiable instrument is **physical delivery of the original note**..." White, A., Losing the Paper,

24 Loyola Consumer Law Rev. 4 at 472-3, citing Gee v. U.S. Bank Nat'l

Ass'n, 72 So.3d 211, 213-24 (Fl. Dist. Ct. App. 2011)(emphasis added).

The Official Comment 1 to RCW 62A.3-203 emphasizes that a document that purports to convey "all right, title, and interest" in a negotiable instrument alone does not effect a transfer of the instrument for the purpose of enforcement, unless separate physical delivery is made:

"...[S]uppose X is the owner and holder of an instrument payable to X. X sells the instrument to Y but is unable to deliver immediate possession to Y. Instead, X signs a document conveying all of X's right, title and interest in the instrument to Y. Although the document may be effective to give Y ownership of the instrument, Y is not entitled to enforce the instrument until Y obtains possession of the instrument. No transfer of the instrument occurs under Section 3-203(a) until it is delivered to Y." (emphasis added) (attached as A-16, ¶ 2)

Division I first observed that "Chase admits that it never had possession of the original note," Opinion at 6 ¶ 3, but disregarded the Official Comment's explicit rejection of the "all, right, title and interest" language contained in the Purchase and Assumption Agreement, incorrectly concluding that the written language alone transferred the Note without any separate physical delivery taking place:

"Here, the FDIC [Receiver] **transferred** all of [Washington Mutual Bank's] loans and loan commitments to Chase pursuant to a purchase and assumption agreement dated September 25, 2008. The agreement uses broad language to describe the **transfer** of

all of the failed bank assets: '[...T]he Receiver hereby sells, assigns, transfers, conveys, and delivers to the Assuming Bank all right, title, and interest of the Receiver in and to all of the assets..." Opinion at 3 ¶ 5-6.

"[...The Receiver's] **transfer** of all assets of the failed bank to Chase carried with it the authority to enforce the Stehrenberger Note. This is because Chase **purchased** all of [Washington Mutual]'s assets as shown by the purchase and assumption agreement." Opinion at 5 ¶1.

"[...T]he **transfer** was made pursuant to a purchase and assumption agreement." Opinion at 8 ¶ 4.

"Because Chase has the authority to enforce the note as the **transferee** of Washington Mutual Bank's (WaMu) assets, we affirm." Opinion at 1 ¶ 1. (all emphases added)

Division I further declined to consider any extra-jurisdictional authority on the "Enforcement of a Lost Instrument" under UCC § 3-309, Opinion at 7-8,6 taking the unusual position instead that "there is nothing in RCW 62A.3-309 that prohibited a lost, destroyed or stolen instrument from being **transferred** to Chase." Opinion at 7 ¶ 1. "Section 3-203 simply does not permit the assignment of enforcement rights in a lost instrument." Zinnecker, T.R. Extending Enforcement Rights to Assignees of Lost, Destroyed, or Stolen Negotiable Instruments under UCC Article 3: A Proposal for Reform, 50 U. Kan. L. Rev. 111, 129 (2001).

Opinion at 7, fn 12: "Amended Brief of Appellant at 21-24 (citing Dennis Joslin Co., LLC v. Robinson Broad. Corp., 977 F. Supp. 491 (D.D.C. 1997); McKay v. Capital Res. Co., Ltd., 327 Ark. 737, 940 S.W.2d 869 (Ark. 1997); State Street Bank and Trust Co.v. Lord, 851 So.2d 790 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2003)); see also Appellant's Statement of Additional Authority (citing In re Harborhouse of Gloucester, 505 B.R. 365 (Bankr. D. Mass. 2014).

This Court is requested to provide guidance to the lower courts in recognizing that the special statutory definition of a **transfer** of negotiable instruments requires physical delivery under RCW 62A.3-203 and that 3-203's explicit rejection of the "all right, title, and interest" language clearly forbids alternate common law of contracts and assignment principles from being used to bypass its physical delivery requirements.

C. Chase's judicial admissions vs. the governing RCW 62A statutes

1. Chase did not have physical possession of Ms. Stehrenberger's original paper Note at any time. Opinion at $6 \ \ 3$

As discussed above, RCW 62A.3-203(a) specifically defines the word "transfer" as a physical delivery of possession of the tangible Note. Chase does not qualify as the "transferee" under RCW 62A.3-203(b). No rights to enforcement of the Note therefore vested from the Receiver to Chase through the Purchase and Assumption Agreement.

RCW 62A.3-309 also states: (a) A person not in possession of an instrument is entitled to enforce the instrument if (i) the person was in possession of the instrument and entitled to enforce it when loss of possession occurred...." As Chase admits never having had possession of the Note. Chase is not entitled to enforce it.

2. Chase admits that there was never any schedule of loans or list of assets created that identifies the Note as among the Washington Mutual Bank assets the Receiver sold to Chase.

The Purchase and Assumption Agreement does not list any "loans," "negotiable instruments" or "promissory notes" as among the categories of assets being sold by the Receiver. CP 621-664; see CP 633 ¶ 3.1 "Assets Purchased by Assuming Bank." The Purchase and Assumption Agreement references a "Schedule 3.1a" of Washington Mutual Bank assets that were sold by the Receiver to Chase CP 621, 633 ¶ 3.1; Chase admits that no Schedule 3.1 of assets exists. CP 453. The Purchase and Assumption Agreement requires a separately identified Book Value purchase price to be paid for each individual asset CP 621, 633 ¶ 3.2, 660, 661 (definition of Book Value at 627); Chase admits that Chase has no breakdown of any Book Value or other purchase price paid that identifies any purchase made of Ms. Stehrenberger's Note. CP 869. It is therefore unclear how Chase has any actual interest in this Note.

Chase asserts that RCW 62A.9A governs the sale of promissory notes, such as the Receiver's sale of assets to Chase through the Purchase and Assumption Agreement. CP 255 ¶ 2; RCW 62A.9A-109(a)(3). RCW 62A.9A-108(b)(6) requires the assets ("collateral") to be sufficiently identified by "objectively determinable" means. Under RCW 62A.9A-108(c) a "supergeneric" description such as "all of the assets," is insufficient for the purposes of enforcing the sale agreement against third

parties. RCW 62A.9A-203(b) and (b)(2). The Purchase and Assumption Agreement's Section 3.1, "Assets Purchased by Assuming Bank" uses the supergeneric "all of the assets" language explicitly rejected by RCW 62A.9A-108(c):

"[...T]he Receiver hereby sells, assigns, transfers, conveys, and delivers to the Assuming Bank [Chase], all right, title, and interest of the Receiver in and to all of the assets..." Opinion at 3-4. (emphasis added)

Division I relied upon the supergeneric "all assets" description and disregarded the UCC financing statements filed with Washington's

Department of Licensing in which multiple third party entities had already claimed rights in Washington Mutual Bank's "promissory notes" and "negotiable instruments" prior to the September 25, 2008 failure date. The "Schedule 3.1a" referenced within the Purchase and Assumption

Agreement's Section 3.1, "Assets Purchased by Assuming Bank," CP 633 ¶

3.1, purportedly intended to identify which of the assets that the Receiver had the power to sell was never actually created. CP 453; RCW 62A.9A-203(b)(2).

Whether the Note was included among the assets from the Receiver is not "objectively determinable" from the four corners of the purchase agreement as is required under RCW 62A.9A-108(b)(6). Division I improperly resolved issues of material fact in the movant's favor on

summary judgment, concluding against the evidence that the Note was among the unidentified assets left at the time that the bank failed.

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