#### No. 90504-5

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### MICHIKO STEHRENBERGER,

Appellant,

v.

#### JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A.,

Respondent.

# ANSWER OF JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A. TO STEHRENBERGER'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

Fred B. Burnside
Hugh R. McCullough
Rebecca Francis
Davis Wright Tremaine LLP
Attorneys for JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.



1201 Third Avenue, Suite 2200 Seattle, Washington 98101-3045 (206) 622-3150 (telephone) (206) 757-7700 (fax)

###

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

A. This case does not involve a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States.

The Court of Appeals decision in this case does not involve a significant—or even debatable—constitutional issue. RAP 13.4(b) says the Supreme Court will accept a petition for review if the case involves a "significant question of law" under the Washington or U.S. constitutions. This case is about Chase's right to enforce Stehrenberger's note under Washington's Uniform Commercial Code and FIRREA, not about any constitutional rights or issues.

The Court of Appeals decision involves a straightforward application of RCW 62A.3-301 and RCW 62A.3-309, which, when read together, give Chase the right to ask Stehrenberger to pay back her loan. Chase is a "person entitled to enforce" Stehrenberger's note under RCW 62A.3-301, even though Chase is not in possession of the instrument, because Chase acquired Stehrenberger's loan from the FDIC, as receiver for WaMu. WaMu was Stehrenberger's original lender. Under Washington law and FIRREA, the FDIC had the power to transfer WaMu's rights to Chase, and Chase acted properly in asking Stehrenberger to repay her loan.

Neither the Court of Appeals nor the trial court had reason to consider any provision of the constitutions of the State of Washington or the United States. There are simply no constitutional issues in this case because Chase's rights are defined by uncontroversial provisions of Washington's Uniform Commercial Code and FIRREA. Stehrenberger's disagreements with the interpretation of the governing statutes do not *ipso facto* create constitutional issues. If that were true, then every dispute about the interpretation of a statute would necessarily create a constitutional issue, which is clearly not the law.

Nor did the Court of Appeals advance an extraordinary interpretation of the law in its decision. To the contrary, an Ohio federal district court had already rejected Stehrenberger's theories, and an Ohio federal magistrate judge called Stehrenberger's claims "unsupported" and

"indisputably lack[ing] merit." *Stehrenberger*, 2012 WL 443217, at \*3. Likewise, before Stehrenberger voluntarily dismissed her federal case in the Eastern District of Washington, the district court ordered Stehrenberger to amend or voluntarily dismiss her complaint because she failed to plead allegations showing she had standing to challenge the transactions between the FDIC and Chase.

It is not accurate to suggest, as Stehrenberger does, that the Court of Appeals in this case interpreted Washington law differently from the Washington legislature. The official comments to Washington's Uniform Commercial Code confirm that WaMu had the power to transfer to Chase its rights under RCW 62A.3-309:

Also, the right under Section 3-309 to enforce a lost, destroyed, or stolen negotiable promissory note may be sold to a purchaser who could enforce that right by causing the seller to provide the proof required under that section. This Article rejects decisions reaching a contrary result, e.g., Dennis Joslin Co. v. Robinson Broadcasting, 977 F. Supp. 491 (D.D.C. 1997).

RCW 62A.9A-109, cmt. 5. The Permanent Editorial Board for the Uniform Commercial Code agrees that courts should interpret Washington's version of UCC 3-309 to authorize a transferee from the person who lost possession of a note to qualify as a person entitled to enforce it. See Report of the Permanent Editorial Bd. for the Uniform Comm. Code at 6 n.25 (ALI Nov. 14, 2011), available at www.ali.org/ \( \times \) (00021333/peb%20report%20-%20november%202011.pdf; see also CP 1067-68, 1413 (citing Report).

The trial court and the Court of Appeals properly chose to follow Washington law, and the advice of the Permanent Editorial Board, instead of the out-of-jurisdiction cases Stehrenberger cites, including the rejected Dennis Joslin decision. See also Allen v. US Bank, Nat'l Ass'n (In re Allen), 472 B.R. 559, 566 (B.A.P. 9th Cir. 2012) (assignee of lost note could enforce note terms under RCW 62A.3-309, and collecting authorities); Atl. Nat'l Trust, LLC v. McNamee, 984 So.2d 375 (Ala. 2007) (assignee not in possession when note was lost could enforce note under Alabama's former § 7-3-309, which was identical to RCW 62A.3-309, if assignor was entitled to enforce note before assignment).

### B. The Court of Appeals decision does not conflict with Gerard, Trujillo, or Colbert.

The Supreme Court should not accept Stehrenberger's petition for review because the decision of the Court of Appeals in this case does not conflict with other Court of Appeals decisions. RAP 13.4(b)(2) says the Supreme Court will accept a petition for review if "the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals." The Court of Appeals decision in this case properly applied Washington law—including prior Court of Appeals decisions—and does not conflict with *Trujillo v. Northwest Trustee Services, Inc.*, -- Wn. App. --, 326 P.3d 768, No. 70592-0-I (Wn. App. June 2, 2014), or *Colbert v. U.S. Bank of Wash. N.A.*, No. 28508-1-III (Wn. App. June 15, 2010) (unpublished opinion), as Ms. Stehrenberger suggests.

# 1. The Court of Appeals decision properly applied Washington law, including prior decisions of the Court of Appeals.

The Court of Appeals properly applied Washington law, including prior decisions of the Court of Appeals. In Federal Financial Co. v. Gerard, 90 Wn. App. 169, 176-77 (1998), the Court of Appeals held that under RCW 62A.3-203(b), "the assignment of a note by the FDIC ... carries with it the right to enforce the instrument." That is because the buyer of an instrument from the FDIC is entitled to all of the rights of the assignor, including "not only those identified in the contract, but also applicable statutory rights." Id. at 177. As the Court of Appeals properly held in this case, that includes the right to enforce a lost or misplaced negotiable instrument under RCW 62A.3-309. Thus, Stehrenberger is really asking the Supreme Court to overturn the Court of Appeals decision in this case and to overrule Gerard, a prior Court of Appeals decision that articulates the same legal principles.

### 2. The Court of Appeals decision does not conflict with *Trujillo*.

The Court of Appeals decision in this case does not conflict with *Trujillo*. To the contrary, *Trujillo* is an admirably reasoned opinion that helps to show why the Court of Appeals made the right decision in this case. In *Trujillo*, the plaintiff defaulted on her loan, then insisted her lender could not foreclose on its security because the beneficiary of the plaintiff's deed of trust was the holder, but not the owner, of her promissory note. The Court of Appeals held the lender qualified as a

person entitled to enforce the instrument under RCW 62A.3-301 and, as a consequence, was entitled to foreclose on the deed of trust.

Stehrenberger claims *Trujillo* contradicts the Court of Appeals decision in this case because, in *Trujillo*, the Court of Appeals purportedly "concluded that the only the [sic] entity with physical possession of Ms. Trujillo's note is entitled to enforce it." Stehrenberger Pet. at 19. That is not true. This is what *Trujillo* actually said.

[RCW 62A.3-301] merely clarifies that one entitled to enforce a note may be any of three specified persons: (i) the *holder* of the instrument, (ii) a nonholder in possession of the instrument who has the rights of a holder, or (iii) a person not in possession of the instrument who is entitled to enforce the instrument pursuant to RCW 62A.3-309 or 62A.3-418(d).

Trujillo, 326 P.3d at 779 (emphasis in original). Trujillo did not say that only the holder of an instrument is entitled to enforce it. Trujillo properly refers to RCW 62A.3-301 to determine who qualifies as a "person entitled to enforce" an instrument. That includes a holder, but also includes a person (like Chase in this case) that is not in possession but who qualifies under RCW 62A.3-309.

In *Trujillo*, of course, unlike here, the person seeking to enforce the note actually had possession of the note. Accordingly, the Court of Appeals in *Trujillo* focused on the rights of a holder under Washington law, as distinct from the rights of an owner. But *Trujillo* did not forbid lenders from establishing the right to collect an obligation as a person, not in possession, who is nevertheless entitled to enforce the obligation under RCW 62A.3-309. The Court of Appeals in this case properly held that

Chase has the right to enforce Stehrenberger's note under RCW 62A.3-309, and that holding is consistent with *Trujillo*.

### 3. The Court of Appeals decision does not conflict with *Colbert*.

Stehrenberger argues that *Colbert*—an unpublished Court of Appeals decision from 2010—conflicts with the Court of Appeals decision in this case. *Colbert* is consistent with the Court of Appeals decision in this case because there are no genuine issues of material fact in this case, which was not true in *Colbert*.

In *Colbert*, the purported owners of two Washington college savings bonds sued to redeem the bonds. The bank that allegedly issued the bonds said it had no record of the bonds and did not respond to demands for payment. The Court of Appeals reversed a summary judgment order in favor of the putative owners of the bonds because there were genuine issues of material fact. There was conflicting evidence about whether the bonds ever even existed. The purported issuer denied issuing the bonds, and the owners did not disclose the existence of the bonds in their earlier bankruptcy case. The Court of Appeals held those questions of fact needed to be resolved before the Court could determine whether the bonds (if they existed) were enforceable under RCW 62A.3-309.

Colbert does not announce a different legal rule than the Court of Appeals decision in this case. Instead, Colbert simply observes—accurately—that a court can't decide as a matter of law whether bonds are enforceable under RCW 62A.3-309 when the party seeking to enforce the

bonds makes contradictory statements about the very existence of the bonds, and when the alleged issuer of the bonds denies issuing them.

That is very different from this case because Stehrenberger admits borrowing money, admits signing a promissory note, admits the terms of the note, and admits leaving the note with WaMu. No one disputes the existence of the note or the fact that WaMu had possession of the note before WaMu failed. Nor is there any genuine dispute that the FDIC, as receiver, transferred all of WaMu's loans to Chase. Stehrenberger herself admits that "[w]ith few exceptions, the relevant facts of the case are undisputed and recited in the Opinion." Stehrenberger Pet. at 3.

There are no genuine issues of material fact to decide in this case. It is certainly true that there are matters that are not known and probably never will be known. It is not known whether WaMu or Chase lost Stehrenberger's note. There is no evidence that anyone other than Chase is entitled to enforce Stehrenberger's note, however, and no evidence that anyone other than Chase (and before Chase, WaMu) has ever even tried to enforce Stehrenberger's note. As the Court of Appeals recognized, it does not matter whether WaMu or Chase lost the note. Under the UCC, as enacted in Washington, and under FIRREA, Chase is a "person entitled to enforce" the note as a matter of law.

C. The Court of Appeals decision does not conflict with—and properly applies—the Supreme Court's prior holdings on summary judgment motions.

The Court of Appeals decision properly applied, and does not conflict with, the Supreme Court's guidance on summary judgment

motions. See RAP 13.4(b)(1). Summary judgment is appropriate when the pleadings and supporting materials "show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." Hearst Commc'ns, Inc. v. Seattle Times Co., 154 Wn.2d 493, 501 (2005). The non-moving party cannot meet that burden by responding with conclusory allegations, speculative statements, or argumentative assertions. Meyer v. Univ. of Wash., 105 Wn.2d 847, 852 (1986).

The Court of Appeals and the trial court properly applied those principles when they decided Chase was entitled to summary judgment as a matter of law. Stehrenberger admits borrowing money, admits signing a note and leaving it with WaMu, and admits the terms of the note. She also admits defaulting on her obligations. Stehrenberger has no quibble with these or other important facts, such as WaMu's failure and the FDIC's sale of loans to Chase. Stehrenberger argues about the legal effect of those facts, but the Court of Appeals properly could and did decide those arguments as a matter of law.

### D. There are no other reasons for the Supreme Court to accept Stehrenberger's petition for review.

There is no public policy or other reasons why the Supreme Court should accept Stehrenberger's petition for review. RAP 13.4(b) says the Supreme Court will accept a petition for review if the petition "involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." Stehrenberger has no genuine grievance affecting the

public interest because she does not deny borrowing money, does not deny the terms of her loan, and does not provide any evidence why she has a legitimate reason to fear someone other than Chase will try and make her pay back her loan. It has been seven years since she took out her loan. During that time, no one other than WaMu or Chase has ever tried to collect her loan. There is no evidence that Stehrenberger has suffered any real injury, much less an injury implicating a substantial public interest.

#### REQUEST FOR FEES

The Supreme Court should award reasonable attorneys' fees and expenses to Chase for the cost of preparing and filing this answer. RAP 18.1(i) expressly authorizes the Supreme Court to award fees and expenses under these circumstances. Stehrenberger's petition for review is part of her campaign of expensive, time-consuming litigation tactics. In addition to this case, Stehrenberger filed five separate lawsuits against Chase and Chase's attorneys. Every court reaching the merits has rejected Stehrenberger's legal theories, including an Ohio federal district court, the King County Superior Court, and the Washington Court of Appeals. The trial court in this case awarded Chase \$98,446.76 in prevailing party attorney's fees, CP 1546, because those "fees and costs were reasonable and necessary to prosecute plaintiff's claims in light of defendant's protracted defense of this matter." Likewise, the Court of Appeals decided Chase, as the prevailing party on appeal, is "entitled to fees and cost, subject to its compliance with RAP 18.1." Stehrenberger, No. 70295-5-I, slip op. at 12 (Wn. App. April 28, 2014). The Supreme Court should

likewise award reasonable fees and expenses under RAP 18.1(j) for the expense of this answer.

#### **CONCLUSION**

For the foregoing reasons, the Court should reject Stehrenberger's petition for review, and should award Chase its fees and expenses under RAP 18.1(j).